
Town Hall, 186 Main Street, Newmarket, NH 
NHNH 

07/13/23  

 

Conservation Commission 
July 13, 2023, at 7:00 PM 

Town Hall Auditorium 

AGENDA 

 
1. Pledge of Allegiance 

2. Roll Call 

3. Public Comment 

4. Guest Speaker: Casella Waste Hauler: solid waste and recycling 

5. Approve Meeting Minutes: June 8, 2023 

6. Financial Summary 

7. Committee/Board Reports 

• Town Council 

• Planning Board 

• Riverfront Advisory Committee/Schanda Park 

• Other Committee Reports 

8. Initiatives 

• Pathways for People and Nature 

• Stream and Wildlife Crossings 

• Pollinator Pathways 

9. Conservation Easement Monitoring: SELT Contract 

10. Land Stewardship 

• Sliding Rock Conservation & Recreation Area: LRAC grant 

• Piscassic River–Loiselle: entrance sign, Library Story Walk 

• Wiggin Farm: kiosk 

• Dearborn: Driveway ROW easement 

• Boulder Drive Trail 

11 Other Updates 

12 Adjourn 



1 
 

Town Hall, 186 Main Street, Newmarket, NH    6/8/2023    Conservation Commission   

 1 

  2 

Conservation Commission 3 

June 8, 2023 at 7:00 PM  4 

Town Hall Auditorium 5 

DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 

Members Present: Ellen Snyder (Chair), David Bell, Jeffrey Goldknopf (Planning Board 8 

Rep.), Tom Jones (Alternate), Sam Kenney (arrived at 7:15 PM), Colin Lawson (Alternate), 9 
Julianna Tyson, and Brian Ward (Town Council Rep. ex officio)  10 
Members Absent: Melissa Sharples (Vice-Chair) and Cris Blackstone. 11 
   12 

The Chair called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM.                      [time on DCAT 3:29] 13 

 14 
1.   Pledge of Allegiance 15 
 16 
2.   Roll Call 17 

We welcomed Brian Ward as the newly appointed Town Council Representative! The 18 
Chair appointed Tom Jones and Colin Lawson to serve as voting members this 19 

evening.  20 
     21 
3.   Public Comment                    22 

There was no public comment this evening. 23 
 24 
4.         Guest Speaker: Doug Cygan                       [time on DCAT 4:55 - 55:45] 25 

Doug Cygan is the Invasive Species Coordinator for the NH Dept. of Agriculture. 26 
Markets & Food. He has agreed to speak to the ConCom this evening about 27 

“Preventing the Spread of Japanese Knotweed (Reynoutria japonica)”. He distributed 28 
copies of a pamphlet on best practices (japanese-knotweed-bmps.pdf (nh.gov) ). 29 
There are also great resources on all invasive species of concern at the NH Dept of 30 

Agriculture website (Plant Industry | Publications and Forms | NH Department of Agriculture, 31 
Markets and Food ). He discussed all of the issues that Japanese Knotweed present as a 32 

threat to the environment: 1) it is highly adaptive to new environments, 2) it can 33 
outcompete native plant species, 3) it can reduce or eliminate species diversity, 4) it can 34 

disrupt ecological processes (light, nutrients, water), 5) it can negatively affect wildlife 35 
habitats, 6) it has allelopathic properties (which means: “the chemical inhibition of one 36 

plant or other organism by another, due to the release into the environment of 37 
substances acting as germination or growth inhibitors”) are phytotoxic to native species, 38 

7) it contributes to erosion, 8) it can impact threatened or endangered species, and 9) it 39 

https://www.agriculture.nh.gov/publications-forms/documents/japanese-knotweed-bmps.pdf
https://www.agriculture.nh.gov/publications-forms/plant-industry.htm
https://www.agriculture.nh.gov/publications-forms/plant-industry.htm


2 
 

Town Hall, 186 Main Street, Newmarket, NH    6/8/2023    Conservation Commission   

can lead to agricultural crop loss. These plants can reach 10 ft tall and any small 1” 1 
piece of the rhizome broken off the main plant can root. The rhizomes can grow 2 
horizontally up to 60 ft. The plants flower from August to September. Homeland Security 3 

is concerned by the dense growth of knotweed surrounding power poles, lines, and 4 
substations. NHDOT has an example of an invasive species control and management 5 
plan ( Invasive Species | Environment | NH Department of Transportation). There are several 6 
ways to try to eradicate knotweed including smothering, biocontrol with sap-sucking 7 
aphids, and herbicides, although none of the methods have been foolproof. Smothering 8 

can take 5-10 years. Many rivers and stream banks are being taken over by knotweed 9 

which can clog and change the flow and threaten many different wildlife species 10 
including the turtles. He also discussed the Giant Knotweed plant and explained the 11 
difference between the two invasives.  12 
 13 

5.               Approve Meeting Minutes                                           [time on DCAT 56:00] 14 

April 13, 2023: 15 

                                                           Action  16 
Motion:              Tom Jones moved to approve the draft minutes of April 13, 2023.            17 
Second:             David Bell 18 

Discussion:       None 19 
Vote:                   Approved  Unanimously 7-0-0 20 

 21 
May 11, 2023: 22 
                                                           Action  23 
Motion:              Julianna Tyson moved to approve draft minutes of May 11, 2023.  24 

Second:             Colin White                    25 
Discussion:       None 26 

Vote:                   Approved  Unanimously 7-0-0 27 
 28 
6.   Financial Summary                                                     [time on DCAT 56:46] 29 

The Chair reported that the current balance in the Conservation Fund is $124,953.09 30 
plus $ 4,764.46 in the Richard Schanda Fund for a total of $129,717.55. Interest earned 31 

was $287.33. We expended funds for the kayak rack and lock for Sliding Rock. We will 32 

receive LUCT funds of $8,400 for 60 Grant Road sometime soon. The Chair requested 33 
reimbursement for materials purchased for work on Newmarket Cares Day in Schanda 34 

Park of $144.27. 35 
                                                           Action  36 
Motion:              Colin Lawson moved to reimburse Ellen Snyder for purchased 37 

                           supplies for the Newmarket Cares Day project in Schanda Park  38 
                           totaling $144.27. Funds will be paid from the Richard Schanda Fund.         39 

Second:             Sam Kenney 40 
Discussion:       None 41 
Vote:                  Approved  Unanimously 7-0-0 42 
 43 

The Chair  also reported that the General Fund balance is $1,458.11.  44 

 45 

7.   SELT’s Piscassic Greenway Management Plan Update 46 
                                                                                             [time on DCAT 1:00:48-1:27:30] 47 

https://www.nh.gov/dot/org/projectdevelopment/environment/units/program-management/invasivespecies.htm


3 
 

Town Hall, 186 Main Street, Newmarket, NH    6/8/2023    Conservation Commission   

Drew Kiefaber joined us again this month to make the final presentation of the 1 
recommendations made by the Piscassic Greenway Management Advisory Committee 2 
to the Southeast Land Trust (attached as Addendum pages 1-3). He reviewed the 3 

summary recommendations to SELT with the members, answered questions, and 4 
discussed any new changes. He covered the details of 1) forest management, 2) 5 
invasive plant management, 3) early successional habitat, 4) fields, 5) management 6 
access, 6) public parking and trailheads, and 7) trails and public use. Thank you so 7 
much Drew! 8 

 9 

8.                  Conservation Commission Operating Guidelines  [time on DCAT 1:27:32] 10 
Sam brought up the discussion held earlier about requesting that the ConCom receive 11 
100% of the LUCT. The Chair stated that she will put the LUCT on the agenda for July 12 
along with the discussion of the general budget for 2023-24. Jeff wanted to add a bullet 13 

item:  “provide review and comment on matters regarding wetlands which come before 14 

the Planning Board upon request”. The members did not have any further suggestions 15 

or comments. The Chair mentioned that these guidelines may be amended at any time. 16 
                                                           Action  17 
Motion:              Jeff Goldknopf moved to approve as amended the Conservation 18 

                           Commission Operating Guidelines.                                   19 
Second:             Tom Jones 20 

Discussion:       None 21 
Vote:                   Approved  Unanimously 7-0-0 22 
 23 
A final copy with changes will be forthcoming. 24 

 25 
9.  Committee/Board Reports                                        [time on DCAT 1:38:00] 26 

Town Council: Brian Ward reported on the recent meeting of the TC. The TC held a 27 
workshop on various ways to improve community outreach. They also discussed the 28 
sewer line break 4 ft underneath the Lamprey Riverbed below the Dam. Sean Grieg has 29 

hired engineers from Wright Pierce Engineering to investigate possible fixes.The leak is 30 
very tiny and NHDES has determined that recreational fishing is not at risk. While 31 

looking at the leak, the Town discovered that the pedestrian bridge is beginning to rust 32 

and will require repairs. The Town has a new notification system going online called 33 
CivicReady. Everyone is encouraged to sign-up at Subscribe to Alerts / News | 34 

Newmarket NH. The Town hired a company called Placework from Portsmouth to 35 
complete a facilities study as part the TC preparations for the Master Plan update. They 36 
have already found that both the Police Department and the Town Hall may need to be 37 

expanded and repaired. The facilities study is in the very early stages right now. The TC 38 
received the letter dated May 22, 2023 from the ConCom requesting the reclassification 39 

of Class VI Old Lee Road to a Class A Trail. They plan to write a Resolution and go 40 
through the process of two readings.  41 
Planning Board: Jeff Goldknopf had nothing new to report. The Chair mentioned that a 42 
letter of support, discussed previously by the ConCom, for the Planning Department’s 43 

application for a Coastal Resilience Grant has been submitted.  44 

Riverfront Advisory Committee/Schanda Park:  Sam Kenney mentioned that he, Ellen, 45 

Bart, and Aimee Gigandet had visited Schanda Park. This visit led to the quick 46 

https://www.newmarketnh.gov/subscribe
https://www.newmarketnh.gov/subscribe


4 
 

Town Hall, 186 Main Street, Newmarket, NH    6/8/2023    Conservation Commission   

turnaround for the decision to use the young people from Newmarket Cares Day to work 1 
with Ellen sprucing up Schanda Park. He also mentioned that they hope to have a 2 
meeting with The Nature Conservancy very soon to determine where to place the 3 

Community Oyster Garden. The ConCom spoke with Kimberly Arlen, the  Habitat 4 
Restoration Coordinator for the Nature Conservancy with the Marine Team working on 5 
oyster reef restoration and community engagement across the Great Bay area back in 6 
November 2022. 7 
Energy and Environment Advisory Committee: Julianna Tyson reported that the Town 8 

Council has approved the Community Power Aggregation Plan and the Town is moving 9 

forward with the Community Power Coalition of New Hampshire (CPCNH). Newmarket 10 
is expected to be in the third waive of communities to join and the formal launch is 11 
expected to begin in Spring 2024. The committee is still working on editing their 12 
recommendations to the Planning Board for the Energy Chapter of the Master Plan.  13 

 14 

10,  Initiatives                                 [time on DCAT 1:40:03] 15 

Pathways for People and Nature: The Chair reported that Pete Steckler is still working 16 
on the two maps we requested. They will be ready soon to be printed out. Bart and 17 
Ellen met with the Durham Planning Board to discuss issues we have in common 18 

052423.pdf (durham.nh.us) . 19 
Stream and Wildlife Crossings: Colin Lawson is still working on this project and 20 

expects to have a draft ready for the next meeting. 21 
Pollinator Pathways: There is no report this evening. 22 
 23 

11.   Land Stewardship                                                   [time on DCAT 1:41:15] 24 
Sliding Rock Recreation and Conservation Area: LRAC grant: Ellen reported that  25 
the new kayak rack should be going in shortly. She reported that nearly all the boats are 26 

removed now except for one, which is padlocked. A decision on that boat has not been 27 
made yet. Ellen has a designer working on the kiosk signage. Tom Jones is still 28 
looking into different fencing options and prices for the area that the ConCom wants to 29 
protect from continued erosion. 30 
Piscassic River–Loiselle: entrance sign: There is no new information this evening. 31 

Wiggin Farm: UNH interns, kiosk: Ellen reported about the UNH Interns who worked for 32 

7 hours today! They cut brush and pulled invasives. They are clearing the stone wall in 33 
the back and will begin again tomorrow at 8:00 AM.  All are welcome to join the work! 34 
The interns will return next week and possibly work at Heron Point. 35 
Dearborn – Driveway ROW Easement: The Chair reported that the State Attorney 36 

General has signed the driveway ROW easement and it is on the way back to the 37 

abutter. After the abutter signs, it will go back to Fish & Game.  Long process and well 38 
done! 39 
  40 
12.                 Other Business:                                                 [time on DCAT 1:43:38] 41 

Jeff mentioned that UNH student Lauren White has set three camera traps along Ash 42 
Swamp Road where the turtle signs are located near his home. 43 

  44 
Colin reported that he, Bart, and Melissa spoke to the Boulder HOA. They met out at 45 

the trail. The trail runs from Sanborn/Lamprey Streets to Dame Road. It is a short trail, 46 

https://www.ci.durham.nh.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/planning_board/meeting/71806/052423.pdf


5 
 

Town Hall, 186 Main Street, Newmarket, NH    6/8/2023    Conservation Commission   

but is very wet. A member of the audience, Paul, lives on Dame Road and confirmed 1 
that the trail is very muddy. The HOA has agreed that we can perform some restorations 2 
by placing chips on the trail and maybe building a boardwalk on the most muddy 3 

section. They are also discussing ways to connect up to Heron Point. Colin will have 4 
more of a plan ready soon and they are looking into ways of creating connectivity 5 
across Town and possibly between neighboring Towns.  6 
 7 
13.                 Non-Public Session:                                           [time on DCAT 1:52:15] 8 

 9 

A motion to go into non-public session to discuss confidential matters related to real 10 

estate, pursuant to RSA 91-A:3, II(c) , was made by Jeff Goldknopf, seconded by 11 

Colin Lawson, and approved 7-0-0 at 8:50 PM. 12 

 13 

A motion to end the non-public session was made by Jeff Goldknopf, seconded by  14 

Tom Jones, and approved 7-0-0 at 9:17 PM. 15 

 16 

A motion to seal the notes of the non-public session was made by Ellen Snyder, 17 

seconded by Colin Lawson, and approved 7-0-0. 18 
 19 

14.                Adjourn 20 

                                                           Action  21 

Motion:              Ellen Snyder moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:17 PM.            22 

Second:            Julianna Tyson 23 

Discussion:       None 24 

Vote:                  Approved  Unanimously 7-0-0 25 

 26 

 27 

Respectfully submitted, 28 

 29 

Sue Frick, Recording Secretary 30 

 31 

 32 

 33 

 34 

 35 

DCAT: 36 
https://videoplayer.telvue.com/player/XSekkdEeRsk0JHQVHAvKJVka7_5VjxKP/videos 37 

 38 

 39 

 40 

 41 

 42 

 43 



6 
 

Town Hall, 186 Main Street, Newmarket, NH    6/8/2023    Conservation Commission   

 1 

Addendum page 1 2 

 3 

 4 



7 
 

Town Hall, 186 Main Street, Newmarket, NH    6/8/2023    Conservation Commission   

 1 

 2 

 3 

Addendum page 2 4 

 5 

 6 



8 
 

Town Hall, 186 Main Street, Newmarket, NH    6/8/2023    Conservation Commission   

 1 

 2 

Addendum page 3 3 

 4 

 5 



Town of Newmarket, New Hampshire

Items (date of motion)

Date of CC 

Approval -- 

Discussion

Date of Debit, 

Revenue, or 

Balance

Conservation  

Commission Fund

Richard Schanda 

Fund
TOTAL

8/1/22 $129,846.64 $4,764.46 $134,611.10

10/5/22 $129,084.24 $4,764.46 $133,848.70

11/3/22 $129,233.55 $4,764.46 $133,998.01

12/2/22 $129,226.83 $4,764.46 $133,991.29

1/5/23 $128,888.83 $4,764.46 $133,653.29

2/3/23 $126,792.88 $4,764.46 $131,557.34

4/1/23 $127,064.64 $4,764.46 $131,829.10

6/5/23 $124,953.09 $4,764.46 $129,717.55

6/30/23 $133,569.58 $4,620.19 $138,189.77

CREDITS

Interest 7/31/22 $18.04

Interest 8/31/22 $44.56

Interest 9/30/22 $80.61

Interest 10/31/22 $139.29

Interest corrections 10/31/22 $8.80

Interest corrections 10/31/22 $29.73

Interest 11/30/22 $135.15

Interest 12/31/22 $118.46

Interest 1/31/23 $364.51

Interest 2/28/23 $412.30

Interest 3/31/23 $239.58

Interest 4/30/23 $271.76

Interest 5/31/23 $287.33

Interest 6/30/23 $216.49

Land Use Change Tax (LUCT)

LUCT  - 17A Cushing Rd balance 9/12/22 $443.84

LUCT -- 60 Grant Rd 6/14/23 $8,400.00

Conservation Commission -- Conservation Fund (5July23)

     Conserv Fund FY23



Town of Newmarket, New Hampshire

Items (date of motion)

Date of CC 

Approval -- 

Discussion

Date of Debit, 

Revenue, or 

Balance

Conservation  

Commission Fund

Richard Schanda 

Fund
TOTAL

Conservation Commission -- Conservation Fund (5July23)

Other Contributions

LRAC Heron Pt Community Grant - final payment 10/18/22 $639.12

LRAC Sliding Rock Comm Grant- 1st payment 11/30/22 $3,162.50

LCHIP annual easement monitoring 3/1/23 $600.00

DEBITS this FY

Heron Point kiosk trail map (Martin Forestry) LRAC grant 3/10/22 7/21/22 $690.00

Heron Point kiosk panel design (Cathy Arakelian)  LRAC grant 3/10/22 8/9/22 $825.00

Heron Point kiosk panels printing (Portsmouth Sign) LRAC grant 3/10/22 9/14/22 $581.00

NHACC annual subscription ($300 from general fund) 10/13/22 10/20/22 $150.00

Oct 15th Conservation Connections event - PR-L workday 9/8/22 11/8/22 $131.61

Wiggin Farm invasive plant control RCCD 2/10/22 11/8/22 $3,190.00

Piscassic River - Loiselle - bridge materials 11/10/22 11/30/22 $220.46

Piscassic River-Loiselle trail signs 11/10/22 12/20/22 $236.00

Sliding Rock Consr Area--hazard tree removal 12/8/22 1/4/23 $2,000.00

Piscassic River-Loiselle entrance sign--down payment, 1/2 11/10/22 1/11/23 $1,187.50

Piscassic River-Loiselle PT wood for trail signs 1/12/23 1/24/23 $24.84

Sliding Rock Consr Area - -- assessment of trail 12/8/22 3/23/23 $500.00

Sliding Rock Consr Area - -- kayak rack and lock 12/8/22 5/4/23 $1,361.93

Wiggin Farm bridge boardwalk extension - Exeter Lumber 3/9/23 5/9/23 $133.84

Wiggin Farm bridge boardwalk extension - Exeter Lumber 3/9/23 5/9/23 $825.57

Wiggin Farm bridge boardwalk extension - volunteer supplies 3/9/23 5/9/23 $77.54

Schanda Park improvements - Newmarket Cares Day 6/8/23 $144.27

Approved to be spent:

Piscassic River-Loiselle entrance sign (added $300 12/8/22) 11/10/22 1/11/23 $1,187.50

LRAC Sliding Rock Community Grant - $6,325:

     Conserv Fund FY23



Town of Newmarket, New Hampshire

Items (date of motion)

Date of CC 

Approval -- 

Discussion

Date of Debit, 

Revenue, or 

Balance

Conservation  

Commission Fund

Richard Schanda 

Fund
TOTAL

Conservation Commission -- Conservation Fund (5July23)

  Sliding Rock Consr Area - -- kiosk panels/other signs 12/8/22 $2,000.00

  Sliding Rock Consr Area - -- fencing 12/8/22 $100.00

Wiggin Farm kiosk - materials 5/11/23 $500.00

To be Considered:

     Conserv Fund FY23



Newmarket Conservation Commission Funds

FY23

General Fund Budget

Date of motion or 

debit
Part-Time Salary Contracted

Dues/ 

Subscriptions

General 

Supplies
Postage

BUDGETED $3,335.00 $300.00 $350.00 $200.00 $0.00

EXPENDED $2,278.81 $360.00 $350.00 $174.62 $0.00

BALANCE $1,056.19 -$60.00 $0.00 $25.38 $0.00

General Fund total balance (5July023)

Part-time salary, recording secretary 7/14/22 $137.04

Part-time salary, recording secretary 7/28/22 $162.74

Part-time salary, recording secretary 8/11/22 $9.87

Part-time salary, recording secretary 8/25/22 $218.30

Recording Secretary - supplies (10/14/21) 8/31/22 $52.41

Part-time salary, recording secretary 9/22/22 $66.83

Supplies - notebook, files 9/20/22 $17.24

NHACC dues 10/20/22 $350.00

Part-time salary, recording secretary 10/6/22 $4.46

Part-time salary, recording secretary 10/20/22 $26.73

Part-time salary, recording secretary 11/3/22 $427.68

Part-time salary, recording secretary 11/17/22 $57.92

Part-time salary, recording secretary 12/1/22 $178.20

Part-time salary, recording secretary 1/12/23 $111.38

Part-time salary, recording secretary 1/26/23 $173.75

SELT - Hilton Easement monitoring 1/31/23 $360.00 $5.88

Postage - monitoring letters 1/31/23 $1.14

Part-time salary, recording secretary 2/23/23 $53.46

Part-time salary, recording secretary 3/9/23 $80.19

Part-time salary, recording secretary 3/23/23 $129.20

General Fund: 014611

$4,185.00

$1,021.57

     General Fund FY23



Newmarket Conservation Commission Funds

FY23 General Fund: 014611

Part-time salary, recording secretary 4/6/23 $53.46

Part-time salary, recording secretary 4/20/23 $13.37

Part-time salary, recording secretary 5/18/23 $35.64

Part-time salary, recording secretary 6/15/23 $334.13

Part-time salary, recording secretary 6/29/23 $4.46

Supplies 6/13/23 $97.95

Approved to be Spent

Notes:

NHACC annual subscription is $500, $150 of which from Conservation Fund; Contractor line item is for SELT monitoring of Hilton easement

     General Fund FY23



 

 
 
Date: July 2, 2023 
 
To:  Newmarket Conservation Commission 
 
From: Ellen Snyder, Chair 
 
Re: Contract with the Southeast Land Trust for Easement Monitoring 
 
In 2004, the Town of Newmarket signed a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with the Rockingham 
Land Trust (now the Southeast Land Trust of NH or SELT) that engaged the land trust in developing 
baseline reports, conducting annual easement monitoring, and maintaining files for the Hilton 
Conservation Easement, which is held by the Town.  
 
This MOA has been automatically renewed every five years, with the current period set to expire in 
August 2024. This MOA is recorded at the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds (RCRD) as Book 
4354 Page 0470 and is attached here for reference. As you will note, the MOA is rather long and 
comprehensive, including a process for handling enforcement and related issues. 
 
I spoke with Deborah Goard, SELT’s Stewardship and Land Engagement Director, about this MOA and 
the option of having SELT monitor one or more additional easements. She and I agreed that the MOA 
is more cumbersome than useful. SELT monitors easements for several Towns and now uses a much 
simpler contract, one that does not need to be recorded and is focused on the annual easement 
monitoring and report. 
 
Our joint recommendation is to take the following steps to engage SELT in monitoring some of our 
town-held conservation easements: 
 
1. Draft and record at the RCRD a “Notice of Release” that cancels the MOA with SELT 

 
2. Sign a new contract with SELT that engages the land trust in monitoring one or more conservation 

easements for the Town. See a draft attached. The new contract would engage SELT to monitor 
easements, while the Town assumes the responsibility of maintaining files and handling any 
violations and enforcement issues. The contract would enable the Town to determine which 
easements we want SELT to monitor each year, up to a cost of $1,000 annually. And the contract 
is renewed (and modified as needed) by mutual agreement annually. 

 
I recommend that beginning this year (2023) we have SELT monitor the Hilton and Nostrom 
Conservation Easements. I anticipate that monitoring these two easements would be less than 
$800/year. 

 
Conservation Commission members, as volunteers, currently monitor seven town-held conservation 
easements, with SELT monitoring one (Hilton). This volunteerism is a valuable (and generous) 
contribution to our community as annual monitoring of conservation easements is an important and 
essential responsibility of the Town. However, as Conservation Commission membership changes over 
time, it is sometimes difficult to maintain consistency and complete our obligations each year. In 
addition, some easement documents are more complicated than others to interpret. The benefit of 
contracting at least some of this responsibility is that we have more consistent and thorough annual 
monitoring reports, and SELT has decades of experience reading and interpreting easement deeds. 
 
CC:  Bart McDonough, Director of Planning and Community Development 
 Steve Fournier, Town Manager 



Contract_Newmarket_2023 services  Page 1 of 2 

Contract for Services 

between the  

Southeast Land Trust of New Hampshire and  

the Town of Newmarket 
 

1. Contract for Services 

 THIS CONTRACT FOR SERVICES (“Contract”) made this _____ day of Month 2023, 

between SOUTHEAST LAND TRUST OF NEW HAMPSHIRE (the “Trust”), a New Hampshire 

non-profit corporation with offices at 247 North River Road, in Epping, New Hampshire; and the 

TOWN OF NEWMARKET (the “Town”), a municipal corporation duly organized in the State of 

New Hampshire with a mailing address of 186 Main Street, Newmarket, New Hampshire, 03857 

collectively referred to as the “Parties” outlines specific responsibilities and tasks to be completed 

by the Trust on behalf of the Town, as follows. 

 

2. Scope of Work 

 The Trust will provide services to the Town that includes the following general scope of 

tasks. Upon the execution of this Contract, the Parties agree that a specific list of assignments will 

be agreed upon that is consistent with this Scope of Work and the Budget for Services below: 

 

A. Conducting annual monitoring of conservation easements:  The Trust will complete the 

annual monitoring for conservation easements held by the Town and Town land, as 

specifically assigned by the Town. Each monitoring visit will include a walk of the property 

and its boundaries, and trails, contact with the landowner, and a written report summarizing 

all observations and any concerns regarding or violations of the easement. In addition, the 

monitoring report will recommend any actions for the Town.  

 

B. Remote monitoring: On behalf of the Town, the Trust will manage the acquisition of 

current year digital remote imagery of the conservation easements held by the Town. The 

Trust will perform an analysis of the digital images and complete a written report for each of 

the conservation easements selected by the Town. 

 

3. Materials, Equipment and Personnel 

 For easement monitoring related services, the Trust’s Stewardship and Land Engagement 

Director will be the primary contact for the Town for this Contract.   

 

 The Town will provide the Trust with access, at no cost to the Trust, to any Town records 

necessary to undertake the Scope of Services outlined by this Contract, including but not limited to 

the conservation easement deed, surveys, tax cards, tax maps (paper and electronic, if available), 

and conservation easement files. The Trust agrees to use any information or materials received from 

the Town of Newmarket for the sole purposes of performing this Contract, and to return same to the 

Town of Newmarket at the conclusion of the Contract.   

 

4. Term 

 The term of this Contract shall be from January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023.  This 

Contract may be extended by mutual written agreement.  

 



Contract_Newmarket_2023 services  Page 2 of 2 

5. Content of Contract 

 This Contract contains the entire understanding between the Parties. The Parties can modify 

this Contract only in writing. 

 

6. Budget for Services 

 The Town agrees to pay the Trust at an hourly rate of $45.00 for work performed under this 

Contract. Normal travel time to and from Town’s offices or other destinations deemed necessary 

will constitute billable hours. 

 

 Ordinary expenses, including but not limited to printing and mileage, incurred by the Trust 

in the performance of its work scope will be billable to Town at cost.   

 

 The total fee for services, including expenses of the Trust, performed under this Contract 

shall not exceed $1,000.00, without prior written approval of the Town.   

 

7. Insurance 

 The Trust carries $1.0 million in general liability insurance. By signing this contract, the 

Town is representing that the Town of Newmarket carries general liability insurance in the amount 

of $1.0 million or more. 

     

8. Assignment 

 Neither party can assign this Contract without prior written permission from the other party.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Executed in duplicate by the Parties by their duly authorized representatives, this ____ day of 

_________, 2023. 

 

 

TOWN OF NEWMARKET     SOUTHEAST LAND TRUST OF  

       NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 

 

 

By:  ____________________________  By:  ____________________________ 

 

Steve Fournier      Brian Hart 

Town Manager     Executive Director 

Hereunto Duly Authorized    Hereunto Duly Authorized   

 












	2023_Memo to CC from Chair.pdf
	Contract_Newmarket and SELT_20XX services_draft.pdf
	TOWN OF NEWMARKET     SOUTHEAST LAND TRUST OF
	NEW HAMPSHIRE


	Contract_Newmarket and SELT_2023 services_draft.pdf
	TOWN OF NEWMARKET     SOUTHEAST LAND TRUST OF
	NEW HAMPSHIRE

	Contract_Newmarket and SELT_2023 services_draft.pdf
	TOWN OF NEWMARKET     SOUTHEAST LAND TRUST OF
	NEW HAMPSHIRE


